No. 42738-9

COURT OF APPEALS OF  
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION TWO

---

WASHINGTON STATE DEPT. OF FISH AND WILDLIFE,

*Appellant*

v.

CURTIS W. JOHNSON,

*Respondent*

---

ON APPEAL FROM  
GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT  
(The Honorable Gordon L. Godfrey)

## I. INTRODUCTION

This state's Department of Fish and Wildlife (DFW) improperly revoked and terminated Respondent, Curtis W. Johnson's ("Johnson's" or the "Respondent's") permanent Commercial Dungeness Crab Coastal Fishing License (the "License") through mistaken administrative statutory construction. In the alternative, the statutory scheme regarding the License's renewal is unconstitutionally vague, and the average person could not understand that they would forfeit their permanent license if they did not fish in a given year and did not pay the fee for fishing in that particular year. Finally, the Department should be estopped from revoking Respondent's permanent License and treating it as an annual license after it represented the License was a permanent license. Under these circumstances this Court should properly construe the statutes and hold Respondent still holds his license and that it can be used in any year in which Respondent timely applies and pays a fee; find the statutory scheme unconstitutionally vague; or estop DFW from enforcing the statutory scheme against Respondent because it represented Respondent had a permanent license. Finally, this Court should award Respondent his attorney fees under RCW 4.84.350 for prevailing in this appeal and should award him damages for lost profits caused by the state's staying Judge Godfrey's Order reinstating Respondent's License.

## II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. DFW erred when it erroneously construed and interpreted the statutory and regulatory scheme regarding Respondent's License to effectively revoke Respondent's License in perpetuity, thereby causing a forfeiture, if Respondent did not fish in a given year and did not pay the annual fishing fee to use his License in that year.

2. The statutory and regulatory scheme regarding Respondent's License is unconstitutionally vague as applied to this case.

3. Mr. Johnson was denied procedural due process.

a. Mr. Johnson has a property interest in maintaining his permanent License, entitling him to procedural due process.

b. The State did not afford Mr. Johnson procedural due process in this case.

4. DFW erred in its Final Order's Finding of Fact 7, which is really a conclusion of law, when it found that "the economic consequences of failing to renew the license are much more significant because the failure to renew the license in one year precludes renewals thereafter." Finding of Fact 7.



5. DFW erred in its Final Order's Finding of Fact 11, which is really a conclusion of law, when it found that the belief that "there would be no problem renewing the license the following year" was a "*mistaken* belief." (emphasis added). Finding of Fact 11.

6. DFW erred in its Final Order's Finding when it concluded that RCW 77.70.360 means that when a commercial Dungeness crab-coastal fishery license is not renewed it is no longer capable of being renewed in the future. Conclusion of Law 4.

7. DFW erred when its Final Order concluded there was no legal significance to the Director having informed Mr. Johnson that he would be granted a "permanent" license. Conclusion of Law 5.

8. DFW erred when its Final Order concluded its Director's reference to a "permanent" license was meant to identify his decision to grant Petitioner a license that would not expire at the end of 1999 and which had the capacity to remain viable indefinitely under the provisions of the limited entry program. Conclusion of Law 5.

9. DFW erred when its Final Order concluded that a license is "permanent" only if the license holder complies with the annual renewal requirement of RCW 77.70.360. Conclusion of Law 5.

10. DFW erred when its Final Order concluded there were no grounds to estop it from arguing Respondent's License was an annual license as opposed to a permanent license.

11. DFW erred when its Final Order concluded that there was no basis for applying the equitable doctrine of promissory estoppel. Conclusions of Law 5, 10.

12. DFW erred when its Final Order concluded Respondent was mistaken when he concluded that there would be no consequence if his License was not renewed in 2007. Conclusion of Law 10.

13. DFW erred when its Final Order concluded that anyone paying attention to the statutory renewal requirement would have appreciated the consequence of failing to renew the license if it is not being used in a given year. Conclusion of Law 10.

14. DFW erred when its Final Order concluded that given the statutory provisions, it was not reasonable for Mr. Johnson to assume there would be no consequences if his license was not timely renewed in 2007. Conclusion of Law 11.

15. DFW erred when its Final Order rejected Respondent's equitable estoppel argument without having addressed that the Department's representation that he could not change the vessel

designation until 2008 caused him not to renew the license in 2007.

Conclusion of Law 12.

16. DFW erred when its Final Order concluded that RCW 77.65.030 and RCW 77.70.360 prevent DFW from renewing a commercial Dungeness crab-coastal fishery license where a prior year's license was not renewed. Conclusion of Law 12.

### III. ISSUES

1. Whether the statutory and regulatory scheme for renewal of a commercial Dungeness crab-coastal fishery license allows a fisherman to continue to hold and renew his or her license if they do not fish in a given year and do not pay the annual fee to fish in that year.

2. Whether the statutory and regulatory scheme for renewal of a commercial Dungeness crab-coastal fishery license is unconstitutionally vague because it is confusing and ambiguous to the point that it cannot be understood by persons of reasonable intelligence, including Judge Godfrey.

2. Whether the statutory and regulatory scheme for renewal of a commercial Dungeness crab-coastal fishery license as applied by the Department violates constitutional guarantees of procedural due process

when Mr. Johnson was deprived of a valuable crab fishing license without proper notice and a pre-deprivation hearing.

3. Whether the statutory and regulatory scheme for renewal of a commercial Dungeness crab-coastal fishery license as applied by the Department violates constitutional guarantees of substantive due process when Mr. Johnson was deprived of a valuable crab fishing license on which he relied for income and when other methods for managing the state's crab fishery in accordance with legislative intent are available.

4. Whether the Department acted arbitrarily and capriciously or *ultra vires* by incorrectly applying RCW 77.70.360 and RCW 77.65.030.

5. Whether the Department erred in concluding that the doctrine of equitable estoppel is inapplicable to Mr. Johnson's case.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Johnson has held a Dungeness crab commercial license since 1991.<sup>1</sup> In 1995, after the legislature adopted a limited entry licensing program for the coastal Dungeness crab commercial fishery, Mr. Johnson applied for a Dungeness crab-coastal fishery license under the new rules.<sup>2</sup> On May 30, 1995, Robert Turner, then DFW's Director, issued a letter to

---

<sup>1</sup> CP 118 (FF 1).

<sup>2</sup> *Id*

Mr. Johnson stating that the Department would grant him a “permanent license” to participate in this fishery.<sup>3</sup> The letter stated, in relevant part:

I find that you... should be granted a permanent license. A copy of the board’s recommendation is enclosed for your records. The License Division will place your application in line for processing and will mail your permanent Dungeness Crab Coastal Fishery license to you.<sup>4</sup>

The permanent License at issue in this matter was granted to Mr. Johnson.<sup>5</sup> The license was renewed every year through 2006.<sup>6</sup> The 2006 license allowed fishing throughout the calendar year. The 2006 fishing season starts, however, on December 1, 2006, and ends on September 15 the following year.<sup>7</sup> This means a person fishing who waits until the opening of the 2006 season to buy a 2006 license can fish for only one month out of the nine-month fishing season. The license was not renewed in 2007.<sup>8</sup>

To make matters more confusing, DFW mails a license renewal reminder and an application form to all license holders of record who have not already renewed their license in the fall of each year, after the fishing season ends.<sup>9</sup> This means a fisherman who bought a 2006 license

---

<sup>3</sup> CP 115, 118 (FF 1)

<sup>4</sup> CP 115

<sup>5</sup> CP 118 (FF 1).

<sup>6</sup> *Id*

<sup>7</sup> *See* WAC 220-52-046(6).

<sup>8</sup> *Id*

<sup>9</sup> CP 118-19 (FF 5-6)

not only could not fish for 8 out of the 9 month 2006 fishing season, but also that DFW would not send that fisherman a renewal form until after the 2006 fishing season ended in September 2007. DFW's renewal reminder does not apprise the recipient that his or her license could never be renewed again, and thereby forfeited, if it was not renewed by December 31, 2007.

Mr. Johnson testified that he did not receive a renewal notice from DFW in 2007 to renew the License.<sup>10</sup> Mr. Johnson provided affidavits regarding problems with the mail delivery in his neighborhood during the fall months of 2007.<sup>11</sup> The Administrative Hearing Officer made a finding that it was possible that Mr. Johnson did not receive his annual renewal notice in 2007 because of problems with the mail in his area.<sup>12</sup> The trial judge specifically found that Mr. Johnson did not receive actual notice of his license's renewal date.<sup>13</sup>

The form sent in late 2007 and which Mr. Johnson did not receive stated, "License will expire December 31<sup>st</sup> of issuance year," and "ATTENTION LIMITED LICENSE HOLDER THIS LICENSE MUST

---

<sup>10</sup> CP 118-19 (FF 5).

<sup>11</sup> CP 118-19 (FF 5).

<sup>12</sup> CP 118-19 (FF 5).

<sup>13</sup> CP 182 (FF 6). Because this finding is supported by substantial evidence, it should be a verity on appeal. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 819, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). (Findings of fact are reviewed based on the substantial evidence standard.)

BE RENEWED BEFORE DECEMBER 31, 2007.”<sup>14</sup> Nowhere was language included specifying that failure to renew by the deadline would result in the license being forfeited or revoked because it could not be renewed in all subsequent years.<sup>15</sup>

Mr. Johnson had leased the License to Kenneth Greenfield in November 2005 for the 2005 fishing season.<sup>16</sup> Because of the lease, a new vessel, the *Smolt*, was designated for the License.<sup>17</sup> Mr. Greenfield was also the operator listed for the License during the 2006 season, and Mr. Johnson believed that Greenfield was leasing the License for the 2006 season.<sup>18</sup>

Mr. Johnson was unable to reach Mr. Greenfield, by mail or phone, in 2007 about whether Mr. Greenfield wanted to continue leasing the License for the 2007 season.<sup>19</sup> Therefore, in October and November of 2007, Mr. Johnson entered into discussions with another fisherman who was interested in leasing the License for the 2007 season.<sup>20</sup> Mr. Johnson contacted DFW by phone, speaking with Ms. Carol Stedman, to inquire about designating a new vessel for the License.<sup>21</sup>

---

<sup>14</sup> CP 85

<sup>15</sup> CP 121 (FF 10).

<sup>16</sup> CP 119 (FF 7).

<sup>17</sup> CP 119 (FF 7).

<sup>18</sup> *Id.* See also RP 21:14–28.

<sup>19</sup> CP 119 (FF 7).

<sup>20</sup> *Id.*

<sup>21</sup> *Id.*

The Administrative Hearing Officer found that “[Mr. Johnson] was told that designating a new vessel for License 60669 [sic] may not be possible because the Department was not permitted to change the vessel designations more than once during two consecutive seasons.”<sup>22</sup> Ms. Stedman was incorrect, however, because the *Smolt* had been the designated vessel for the License for both the 2005 season, which ended September 15, 2006; and the 2006 season, which ended September 15, 2007. Mr. Johnson, therefore, could have changed the vessel designation anytime after September 15, 2007.<sup>23</sup> Had he been correctly advised, then Mr. Johnson would have leased the License to a different operator, changed the vessel designation, and his License would have been renewed prior to the start of the 2007 season; and this issue would not have arisen. But, based on DFW’s incorrect representations, Mr. Johnson reasonably believed that he would have to wait until 2008 to designate a different vessel under the License.<sup>24</sup> Relying on Ms. Stedman’s incorrect statements, Mr. Johnson also reasonably believed the License could not yet be shifted from the *Smolt*, which meant it could not be used by another lessee or by Mr. Johnson himself.<sup>25</sup> These misstatements with Mr. Johnson having no reasonable way to understand he would somehow

---

<sup>22</sup> *Id*

<sup>23</sup> RP 8-30-31; RCW 77 70.350(1)(b) and (c)

<sup>24</sup> RP 10-4-5.

<sup>25</sup> CP 119-20 (FF 7).



forever lose or forfeit his permanent License caused Mr. Johnson not to renew the License for 2007 and invest \$415 into a permit that would expire one month into the 9 month 2007 fishing season that neither he nor anyone other than the unreachable Mr. Greenfield could use.<sup>26</sup>

Upon learning he could not lease the License to a new operator, Mr. Johnson asked DFW if he could obtain a waiver to change the vessel designation on his License to lease it, or whether he could sell his License.<sup>27</sup> Mr. Johnson testified that Ms. Stedman told Mr. Johnson that she needed to know the documented length of Mr. Greenfield's vessel, the *Smolt*.<sup>28</sup> Mr. Johnson informed Ms. Stedman that he was unable to reach Mr. Greenfield and, therefore, he could not obtain the vessel's length.<sup>29</sup> Mr. Johnson testified that Ms. Stedman stated that she would inquire whether DFW would accept the length of the *Smolt* as listed on the application and then get back in touch with Mr. Johnson.<sup>30</sup> Mr. Johnson testified that neither Ms. Stedman nor anyone else at DFW got back in touch with Mr. Johnson in time for him to lease his License in 2007 or transfer his License that year.<sup>31</sup> Never during any of the conversations with DFW was Mr. Johnson informed that his failure to

---

<sup>26</sup> CP 120-21 (FF 7-8).

<sup>27</sup> RP 30:10-32:3

<sup>28</sup> *Id*

<sup>29</sup> *Id*

<sup>30</sup> *Id*

<sup>31</sup> *Id*

renew his permanent License by December 31, 2007 would result in DFW effectively revoking, or Mr. Johnson effectively forfeiting, his permanent License.<sup>32</sup>

In early 2008, a buyer approached Mr. Johnson regarding the License.<sup>33</sup> Mr. Johnson again had several phone conversations with DFW.<sup>34</sup> This was the first time that DFW informed Mr. Johnson he could not transfer the License because he had not renewed it during 2007.<sup>35</sup>

Despite this, in March 2008, Mr. Johnson applied, paid the application fee, and was denied the 2007 license.<sup>36</sup> He administratively appealed the DFW's denial of his License.<sup>37</sup> The DFW hearing officer affirmed the DFW's denial of his license and held Mr. Johnson could never renew his License again in the future.<sup>38</sup>

Mr. Johnson has testified that the License is a transferable asset worth approximately \$50,000 to \$70,000.<sup>39</sup>

In September 2008, Mr. Johnson timely petitioned for judicial review.<sup>40</sup> A judicial review hearing was held before Judge Godfrey in the Grays Harbor County Superior Court on September 29, 2011. Judge

---

<sup>32</sup> CP 121 (FF10); RP 10:6-32; RP 16:16-19

<sup>33</sup> RP 16:19-32.

<sup>34</sup> *Id*

<sup>35</sup> CP 120-21 (FF 8).

<sup>36</sup> CP 118 (FF 2-3)

<sup>37</sup> *Id*

<sup>38</sup> CP 127.

<sup>39</sup> CP 121 (FF 11)

<sup>40</sup> CP 1-25.

Godfrey found in favor of Curtis Johnson and entered his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, along with a Judgment and Declaratory Order, on October 27, 2011 and declared and ordered Mr. Johnson's License reinstated.<sup>41</sup> The Department appealed Judge Godfrey's order.

## V. ARGUMENT

### A. Standard of Review

#### 1. APA Standards of Review Apply

This appeal, challenging a DFW decision, is governed by the Washington Administrative Procedures Act (APA), Ch. 34.05 RCW. Grays Harbor County Superior Court acted in an appellate capacity and based its review of the administrative hearing decision on the record created before DFW.<sup>42</sup> Although the record may be augmented under certain circumstances, Mr. Johnson did not seek to supplement the record of the administrative hearing.<sup>43</sup>

This Court sits in an appellate capacity, the same position as the superior court sits in appeals under the APA, to review appeals from an administrative hearing decision.<sup>44</sup> The party asserting the invalidity of

---

<sup>41</sup> CP 181 – 88.

<sup>42</sup> RCW 34.05.558.

<sup>43</sup> CP 136.

<sup>44</sup> RCW 34.05 570.

agency action continues to bear the burden of showing invalidity before this Court.<sup>45</sup>

APA judicial review standards provide:

(3) Review of agency orders in adjudicative proceedings. The court shall grant relief from an agency order in an adjudicative proceeding only if it determines that:

(a) The order, or the statute or rule on which the order is based, is in violation of constitutional provisions on its face or as applied;

(d) The agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law;

(e) The order is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court, which includes the agency record for judicial review, supplemented by any additional evidence received by the court under this chapter;

or

(i) The order is arbitrary or capricious.<sup>46</sup>

Most of the claims brought by Mr. Johnson will be decided pursuant to subsections (3)(a) (constitutionality), (3)(d) (error of law), and (3)(i) (arbitrary and capricious), or a combination thereof.

DFW was required to interpret and apply the Revised Code of Washington to a number of issues when rendering its Final Order. Under the “error of law” standard, this Court may substitute its judgment for

---

<sup>45</sup> RCW 34.05 570(1)(a). *See also* Div. II General Order 2010-1. RCW 34.05.570(3).  
RCW 34.05.570(3).

that of the agency.<sup>47</sup> When the inquiry requires construction of a statute, review is *de novo*.<sup>48</sup> Courts have the ultimate authority to interpret a statute and do not defer to an agency where no ambiguity exists in the statute.<sup>49</sup> The DFW also made some findings of fact, though very few are in dispute. The APA's substantial evidence standard applies to findings of fact. The court reviews findings of fact for substantial evidence in light of the whole record. An agency finding of fact will be upheld if supported by "evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court."<sup>50</sup>

**2. Doubts as to the meaning of statutes should be resolved in favor of Mr. Johnson.**

Any doubt as to the meaning of a statute should be resolved in favor of the type of claimant for whose benefit it was passed.<sup>51</sup> The courts have the ultimate responsibility to see that the rules are applied consistently with the policy underlying the statute.<sup>52</sup> In rewriting the crab licensing requirements in 1994, the Legislature's purpose was to protect Washington crab fishers "who have historically and continuously

---

<sup>47</sup> *Skagit County Public Hosp Dist No 1 v State, Dept of Revenue*, 158 Wn. App. 426, 434, 242 P.3d 909 (2010).

<sup>48</sup> *Advanced Silicon Materials, LLC v Grant County*, 156 Wash 2d 84, 89, 124 P 3d 294 (2005)

<sup>49</sup> *Nelson v Appleway Chevrolet, Inc* , 129 Wn App. 927, 946, 47-48, 121 P.3d 95 (2005).

<sup>50</sup> RCW 34.05.570(3)(d)-(e), *Silverstreak, Inc v. Washington State Dept of Labor and Industries*, 159 Wn.2d 868, 880, 154 P 3d 891 (2007).

<sup>51</sup> *Towle v Washington State Dept of Fish and Wildlife*, 94 Wn App. 196, 207, 971 P.2d 591 (1999).

<sup>52</sup> *Id*

participated in the coastal crab fishery.”<sup>53</sup> There is no question that Mr. Johnson is within the class of persons that the Legislature sought to protect when it reformed the crab licensing system and instituted the limited entry program: Mr. Johnson’s license 60069 was issued in connection with the new crab licensing system.<sup>54</sup> Therefore, any doubts as to the meaning or interpretation of statutes should be resolved in Mr. Johnson’s favor, and not in favor of the Department.

**B. The Department has Erroneously Interpreted and Applied RCW 77.70.360.**

1. The Department has Erroneously Interpreted RCW 77.70.360 to Provide that a Dungeness Crab-Coastal Fishery License that is not Renewed Each Year Shall not be Renewed Further When, Unlike Other Statutes in Chapter 77.70 RCW, the Statute Contains no Such Express Provision.

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