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

argument that commercial fishing licenses are permanent.

The May 30, 1995, letter from the Department Director to Johnson

CP 111), in which the Director stated that Johnson was being awarded a

permanent" license, does not override the plain language of

RCW 77.65.070. The Director's use of the term "permanent" in that letter

was meant to indicate that Johnson was being issued a Dungeness crab-

coastal license, which could be renewed each year provided it was

renewed in the previous year, as opposed to a Dungeness crab-coastal

Class B license, which automatically expired by operation of statute on

December 31, 1999, and could not be renewed thereafter. See

RCW 77.70.280(4).

Second, Johnson's interpretation of RCW 77.70.360 would rewrite

the key sentence of the statute. The key sentence of RCW 77.70.360 says

that "[a] person may renew an existing license only if the person held the
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license sought to be renewed in the previous year ... and if the person has

not subsequently transferred the license to another person." (Emphasis

added.) Johnson's interpretation would rewrite the statute to allow a

person to renew an existing license if the person held the license sought to

be renewed at any point in the past (provided it was not transferred),

regardless of whether he or she renewed the license the previous year.

This interpretation renders superfluous the phrase "in the previous year."

Johnson's interpretation would, in effect, rewrite the statute to

simply say that "a person who held an existing Dungeness crab-coastal

license in any year may renew such a license at any time." But it is a

well-know dictate of statutory construction that a court cannot rewrite a

statute under the guise of interpreting it. See, e.g., Devore v. Dep't qfSoc.

and Health Servs., 80 Wn. App. 177, 183, 906 P.2d 1016 (1995). And a

court should not interpret a statute in a manner that renders any words

meaningless or superfluous. See, e.g., G-P Gypsum Corp. v. Dep't of

Revenue, 169 Wn.2d 304, 309, 237 P.3d 256 (2010) ("Statutes must be

interpreted and construed so that all the language used is given effect, with

no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous."). If the Legislature had

intended that a one-time Dungeness crab-coastal license holder could

renew his or her license at any time, regardless of whether he or she held a

valid, unexpired license in the previous year, it would have said so.

Finally, Johnson's contention that he "held" a license in 2007, even

though his license expired on December 31, 2006, and was not renewed in

2007, is untenable. Under Johnson's interpretation of RCW 77.70.360, if
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a person possessed a license at any point in the past, he or she would be

considered to have "held" that license the previous year for purposes of

seeking renewal, even if the person's license had long-since expired. His

interpretation would permit a person to forgo annual license renewal and

let his or her license lapse indefinitely, all the while maintaining his or her

license, with the possibility of reentering the fishery at any time. A fisher

could repeat this cycle over the years, entering and exiting the fishery at

his or her convenience.

However, the purpose of the limited entry licensing program was

to protect those with an ongoing, continuous interest in the fishery by

reducing the number of licensees through attrition as former license

holders fail to annually renew their licenses. See Laws of 1994, ch. 260,

1. The only condition placed upon licensees is that they continually hold

their license through annual renewals. Given the language used in the

statute, it defies reason to assume the Legislature intended to allow a

former license holder to forgo renewal of his or her Dungeness crab-

commercial license for one or more years, and yet still be eligible to renew

such a license in future years.

Contrary to Johnson's argument, the meaning of RCW 77.70.360

is plain and unambiguous. Johnson's arguments to the contrary go against

the intent of the Legislature, as expressed in the plain language of the

statute, and are based on a failure to understand the temporary nature of a

commercial fishing license and the "renew-it-or-lose-it" scheme created

by the Legislature.
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As discussed at length above, RCW 77.65.030 is plain and

of the statutory scheme as a whole

interpretation of RCW 77.70.360

RCW 77.70.360 are capable of being readily understood by a person of

ordinary intelligence; they are, therefore, not void for vagueness. Pacific

Topsoils, 157 Wn. App. at 647.
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Furthermore, the fact that RCW 77.70.360 contains undefined

terms, including the term "held" in the phrase "held the license sought to

be renewed during the previous year," does not render the statute

unconstitutionally vague. Id. In context, the plain meaning of that term is

capable of being understood by a person of ordinary intelligence. And

finally, the fact that a citizen might need to refer to multiple statutes in

determining the meaning of the Dungeness crab-coastal license renewal

requirements does not render the statutory scheme invalid. -1d.

Johnson cannot meet his burden to establish, beyond a reasonable
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or property interest, notice and an opportunity for a hearing must be

provided. See, e.g., Bd. qf'Regents qf'State Colleges v. Roth, 408 U.S.

564, 569, 92 S. Ct. 2701 (1972); Cleveland Bd. qf'Educ, v. Loudermill,

470 U.S. 532, 542, 105 S. Ct. 1487 (1985).

In this case, the plain, unambiguous language of the applicable

statutes provided adequate notice of the Dungeness crab-coastal licensing

renewal requirements and the consequences of failing to timely renew. As

discussed above, these statutes were not unconstitutionally vague because

they could be understood by a person of ordinary intelligence. Haley, 117

Wn.2d at 739; Pacific Topsoils, 157 Wn. App. at 647. Because they were

not unconstitutionally vague, the statutes provided notice adequate to

satisfy due process requirements. Furthermore, Johnson was provided

notice of the Department's action to deny his late-filed application for

renewal of his 2007 license in the form of a letter that explained the legal

basis for the action and informed him of his right to administratively

appeal that action. See CP 080. Therefore, Johnson received adequate

notice.

Johnson was afforded the opportunity for a full administrative

hearing and, in fact, participated in the hearing where he was represented

9 The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, in part,
that "no state shall ... deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due
process of law." Article 1, § 3 of the Washington Constitution contains a nearly identical
due process guarantee. That provision has been interpreted to afford no greater due
process protections than that guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment due process
clause. See, e.g., In re Dyer, 143 Wn.2d 384, 394, 20 P3d 907 (2001). Thus, the
Washington Constitutional due process requirements are completely subsumed by the
Fourteenth Amendment due process requirements.
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by counsel who presented evidence, examined the Department's

representative, and made argument. This fully provided all the process to

which Johnson was entitled. In this respect, this case is analogous to Foss

v. Nat'l Marine Fisheries Serv., 161 F.3d 584, 589 (9th Cir. 1998) (cited

by Johnson in his opening brief), where the Ninth Circuit found that the

notice provided and the opportunity for an administrative hearing were

constitutionally sufficient."

Even though he was provided notice and a fall administrative

hearing, Johnson argues that he was entitled to something more: a pre-

deprivation hearing. See, e.g., Op. Br. at 34. But a pre-deprivation

hearing was not called for under these circumstances. In deciding what

process is due in particular circumstances, courts apply the three-part test

set forth in Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893 (1976). The

three factors to be considered in applying this test are:

First, the private interest that will be affected by the official
action; second, the risk of an erroneous deprivation of such
interest through the procedures used, and the probable
value, if any, of additional or substitute procedural
safeguards; and finally, the Government's interest,

including the function involved and the fiscal and

administrative burdens that the additional or substitute

procedural requirement would entail.
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license. Mackey v. Montrym, 443 U.S. 1, 12, 99 S. Ct. 2612 (1979). In

Mackey, the Court found that the risk of erroneous deprivation was low in

that case because " the predicates for a driver's suspension under the

Massachusetts scheme are objective facts either within the personal

knowledge of an impartial government official or readily ascertainable by

him." Id. at 13.

In this case, the only factual predicate to the Department's denial

of Johnson's 2007 license renewal application was whether he submitted

the application on or before December 31, 2007, or after. This is an

objective fact readily known by, or ascertainable to, Department officials.

There is little, if any, risk of erroneous deprivation based on the denial of a

late-filed license renewal application. In this case, as in Foss, "the risk of

erroneous deprivation of the permit was virtually nil." Foss, 161 F.3d at

589. And even if the Department did err with respect to the submittal date

of a license renewal application, that error could be easily and speedily

rectified following a post-deprivation hearing.

For these reasons, no pre-deprivation hearing was required and the

post-deprivation hearing provided Johnson all the process he was due.

The Department did not violate Johnson's due process rights.

F. The Department Did Not Violate Johnson's Substantive Due
Process Rights

Johnson claims that the Department's action to deny his late-filed

application, and its conclusion that as a result of having failed to timely

renew his license in 2007, he is precluded from renewing a license for
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2008 and subsequent years, violated his substantive due process rights.

Johnson is wrong. Because the Department's action was rationally related

to a legitimate state purpose, it did not violate his substantive due process

rights.

According to the Washington Supreme Court in Amunrud v. Bd. of

Appeals, 158 Wn.2d 208, 218-19, 143 P.3d 571 (2006), "[s]ubstantive due

process protects against arbitrary and capricious government action even

when the decision to take action is pursuant to constitutionally adequate

procedures."' 
0

The first task in any substantive due process analysis is to

determine the level of scrutiny to be applied to the government action in

question. Id. at 219. An individual's pursuit of employment in a trade or

profession is a liberty interest protected by the Fourteenth Amendment.

Id. However, as the Washington Supreme Court has observed, "courts

have repeatedly held that the right to employment is a protected interest

subject to rational basis review." Id. at 220. In other words, "[b]ecause

the right to pursue a trade or profession is a protected right but not a

fundamental right, [courts] apply a rational basis test." Id. at 222.

Under the rational basis test, the government action need only be

rationally related to a legitimate state interest." Id. According to the

Washington Supreme Court, "[t]he rational basis test is the most relaxed

10 In the Amunnid case, the petitioner claimed that the Department of
Licensing's suspension of his driver's license for non-payment of child support violated
his substantive due process rights. Amunrud, 158 Wn.2d at 211. The Supreme Court,
applying the rational basis test, disagreed. Id. at 223-25. The Court held that

enforcement of child support obligations is a legitimate state interest and that the
suspension of petitioner's driver's license was rationally related to that purpose. Id.
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form of judicial scrutiny." Id. at 223. In applying the rational basis test,

a court may assume the existence of any necessary state of facts which it

can reasonably conceive in determining whether a rational relationship

exists between the challenged law and a legitimate state interest." Id. at

222.

In this case, Johnson's argument that the Department's denial of

his late-filed license renewal application, and its conclusion that he is

barred from receiving a renewed license in 2008 and subsequent years,

violate his substantive due process rights is without merit. First, the

licensing of commercial crab fishers, in order to protect the resource and

the economic viability of the industry, see Laws of 1994, ch. 260, § 1, is

clearly a legitimate state interest. Johnson admits as much in his brief.

See Op. Br. at 40. And second, limitations on the issuance and renewal of

commercial crab licenses, including the deadline for submittal of renewal

applications and the prohibition on issuance of licenses, except renewal

licenses to persons who held a license in the previous year, are rationally

related to that interest.

Requiring that license renewal applications be submitted by

December 31 of each year allows for efficient and effective administration

of the licensing program by the Department. As the Ninth Circuit

observed in Foss, "[a]n application deadline serves the twin goals of

fairness and predictability. The importance of a fixed application period

cannot be underestimated." Foss, 161 F.3d at 589. And limiting the

number of commercial crab fishing licenses and issuing licenses only to
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renewing license holders who held a license in the previous year limits the

number of fishers, reducing pressure on the resource, and reducing the

supply of crab on the market, thus ensuring price stability and protecting

crab fisher's investment in their vessels and equipment. See Laws of

1994, ch. 260, § 1.

Moreover, the Department's action in this case was not arbitrary

and capricious and in violation of substantive due process merely because

the result was harsh. A harsh result does not render an agency action

arbitrary and capricious. See Heinmiller v. Dep't qf'Health, 127 Wn.2d

595, 609, 903 P.2d 433 (1995). In Heinmiller, the appellant argued that

the Department of Health's sanction for misconduct committed in the

course of her work as a social worker, indefinite suspension of her license,

was unduly harsh and, therefore, arbitrary and capricious. Id. at 597. The

state Supreme Court flatly rejected this argument. Id. at 609. According

to the Court in Heinmiller, "[h]arshness ... is not the test for arbitrary and

capricious action." Id. In this case, though Johnson may view the result

of the Department's action as harsh, harshness does not render the action

arbitrary and capricious.

Because the Department's action to deny Johnson's late-filed

license renewal application, and its conclusion that he is, as a result of

having failed to timely renew his license in 2007, precluded from

renewing his license for 2008 and subsequent years, were both rationally

related to a legitimate state interest, neither violated his substantive due

process rights.
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heavy burden as such claims against the government are not favored. See

Dep't qf'Ecology v. Theodo•atus, 135 Wn.2d 582, 599, 957 P.2d 1241

1998). Generally, to succeed in a claim of equitable estoppel, three

elements must be proved:

1) a party's admission, statement or act inconsistent with
its later claim; (2) action by another party in reliance on the
first party's act, statement or admission; and (3) injury that
would result to the relying party from allowing the first
party to contradict or repudiate the prior act, statement or
admission.
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which automatically expired by operation of statute on December 31,

1999, and could not ever be renewed thereafter. See RCW 77.70.280(4).

Johnson next claims that the Department gave him incorrect

information about whether he could transfer the vessel designation for his

license. CP 115-16. The Department disputes that incorrect information

was provided, but even if it had been, the undisputed facts are that the

Department provided no information and made no statements, true or

false, about whether or not Johnson was required to submit his license

renewal application by the December 31 deadline, or about the

consequences of failing to timely renew. Id. Johnson can point to no

statement, admission, or act by the Department relating to the license

renewal deadline or the consequences of failing to timely renew. So even

if the information provided by the Department's representative about

vessel designation transfer was erroneous, the information had nothing to

do with whether Johnson was required to timely submit a license renewal

application or the consequences of failing to timely renew.

Even if a statement had been made to Johnson by someone at the

Department to the effect that he was being issued a permanent license, or

that he was not required to submit his 2007 license renewal application by

the December 31, 2007, deadline in order to be eligible to renew his

license in future years, any such statements would have been contrary to

law and, therefore, of no effect. No Department employee has the

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